
1

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEBRASKA

OGLALA SIOUX TRIBE,

Plaintiff,

vs.

JASON SCHWARTING, LICENSEE OF
ARROWHEAD INN, INC.; JASON
SCHWARTING D/B/A ARROWHEAD
INN, INC., SANFORD HOLDINGS,
LLC, LICENSEE OF D & S PIONEER
SERVICE; SANFORD HOLDINGS
L.L.C., D/B/A D & S PIONEER
SERVICE; STUART J. KOZAL,
LICENSEE OF JUMPING EAGLE INN;
STUART J. KOZAL D/B/A JUMPING
EAGLE INN; CLAY M. BREHMER,
PARTNER, LICENSEE OF STATE
LINE LIQUOR; CLAY M. BREHMER,
PARTNER D/B/A STATE LINE
LIQUOR; DANIEL J. BREHMER,
PARTNER, LICENSEE OF STATE
LINE LIQUOR; DANIEL BREHMER,
PARTNER D/B/A STATE LINE
LIQUOR; PIVO, INC. D/B/A HIGH
PLAINS BUDWEISER; DIETRICH
DISTRIBUTING CO., INC.,
ARROWHEAD DISTRIBUTING, INC.;
COORS DISTRIBUTING OF WEST
NEBRASKA, INC.; D/B/A COORS OF
WEST NEBRASKA; ANHEUSER
BUSCH INBEV WORLDWIDE, INC.;
SAB MILLER D/B/A MILLER
BREWING COMPANY; MOLSON
COORS BREWING COMPANY;
MILLLERCOORS, LLC; PABST
BREWING COMPANY,

Defendants.
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CASE NO.   4:12-cv-03027

BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF DEFENDANT
STUART J. KOZAL, LICENSEE OF

JUMPING EAGLE INN, AND
DEFENDANT

STUART J. KOZAL D/B/A JUMPING
EAGLE INN’S MOTION TO DISMISS
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Defendant Stuart J. Kozal, Licensee of Jumping Eagle Inn, and Defendant Stuart J.

Kozal, D/B/A Jumping Eagle Inn, submit the following Brief in Support of his Motion to

Dismiss.  For simplicity, these defendants are collectively referred to in this brief as “Kozal.”

INTRODUCTION

This lawsuit involves the sale of alcohol in the town of Whiteclay, Nebraska.  Whiteclay

is located in the western half of the state near the Nebraska-South Dakota border.  Just across

that border is the Pine Ridge Indian Reservation (“Pine Ridge”).  Although geographically close,

no part of the town of Whiteclay is within the borders of Pine Ridge.  By federal law, Pine Ridge

is “dry”, meaning that the sale, possession, and consumption of alcohol is illegal within its

boundaries.  However, the sale, possession and consumption of alcohol is legal in Whiteclay.

Although it is “dry”, the Plaintiff alleges a high percentage of Pine Ridge’s residents

suffer from alcoholism and other alcohol-related problems.  Plaintiff Oglala Sioux Tribe (“the

Tribe”) brought this lawsuit against various beer manufacturers, beer distributors, and beer

retailers alleging that their role in the manufacture and sale of beer in Whiteclay violates

Nebraska law.  (Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint, ¶40).  Specifically, the Tribe contends

the Defendants know or should know that the beer they manufacture, distribute, and lawfully sell

in Whiteclay is being illegally smuggled into Pine Ridge either for consumption or re-sale to

third parties.  In essence, the Tribe alleges that the Defendants are to blame for the alcohol

problems on Pine Ridge.

The Second Amended Complaint (“the Complaint”) alleges five “causes of action”: (1)

“persons acting in concert”; (2) violation of 18 U.S.C. §1161; (3) injunctive relief to limit

volume of beer sold in Whiteclay; (4) public nuisance; and (5) private nuisance.  Kozal has filed

4:12-cv-03027-WKU-CRZ   Doc # 119   Filed: 04/27/12   Page 2 of 30 - Page ID # 359



3

a Motion to Dismiss the Complaint for lack of standing and because it fails to state a claim upon

which relief can be granted.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A plaintiff has the burden to establish standing. Jones v. Gale, 470 F.3d 1261, 1265 (8th

Cir.2006); Hargis v. Access Capital Funding, LLC, 11-1027, 2012 WL 686205 (8th Cir. Mar. 5,

2012).   To prevail against a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim, a plaintiff must allege

sufficient facts, accepted as true, to state a claim for relief that is plausible on its face.  In causes

in which a plaintiff does not or cannot allege specific facts showing a necessary element, the

factual allegations, taken as true, are nonetheless plausible if they suggest the existence of the

element and raise a reasonable expectation that discovery will reveal evidence of the element or

claim. Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 129 S. Ct. 1937, 1949-50 (2009); Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S.

544, 570 (2007).

ARGUMENT

The claims asserted against retailer Kozal should be dismissed as a matter of law.  First,

the Tribe does not have the necessary standing to bring these claims because it has suffered no

injury-in-fact, cannot assert claims on behalf of its third-party members, and runs afoul of

prudential standing limitations.  Additionally, each “cause of action” asserted in the Complaint

fails to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.  Both of these reasons will be discussed in

turn below.
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I. The Tribe lacks the standing necessary to bring such claims.

 “Standing is a threshold inquiry and jurisdictional prerequisite that must be resolved

before reaching the merits of a suit.” Medalie v. Bayer Corp., 510 F.3d 828, 829 (8th Cir.2007).

A plaintiff has the burden to establish standing. Jones v. Gale, 470 F.3d 1261, 1265 (8th

Cir.2006).

Standing jurisprudence contains two strands: a direct injury-in-fact and prudential

standing, which embodies “judicially self-imposed limits on the exercise of federal jurisdiction,”

Allen v. Wright, 468 U.S. 737, 751, 104 S.Ct. 3315 (1984).  Generally speaking, a party can only

assert his or her own rights.  That being said, situations exist where a party has third-party

standing to assert the rights or injuries suffered by others.

The Tribe contends it has standing to assert the instant claims.  An Indian tribe can have

standing to sue to protect its own interests or, in appropriate situations, the interests of its

members through third-party standing called a parens patriae action. Delorme v. United States,

354 F.3d 810 (8th Cir.2004).  Regardless of whether a tribe files a claim in its sovereign capacity

or on behalf of its members, it must still prove an injury-in-fact sufficient to satisfy the standing

requirement. Table Bluff Reservation (Wiyot Tribe) v. Philip Morris, Inc., 256 F.3d 879, 885

(9th Cir.2001).  Because the Tribe has not sustained an injury-in-fact, either in its own capacity

or through third-party standing under parens patriae, and does not fulfill the necessary prudential

standing limitations, its claims against Kozal should be dismissed for want of standing.

A. The Tribe has not sustained an injury-in-fact.

     As a general rule, a plaintiff may only assert his own injury in fact and “cannot rest his

claim to  relief  on  the  legal  rights  or  interests  of  third  parties.” Warth v. Seldin, 422 U.S. 490,
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498–99, 95 S.Ct. 2197, 45 L.Ed.2d 343 (1975).  To prove the occurrence of a direct injury-in-

fact, there must be a causal connection such that the injury is “fairly traceable” to the defendant’s

conduct and it must be likely and not merely speculative that the injury will be “redressed by a

favorable decision.” Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 560–61, 112 S.Ct. 2130, 119

L.Ed.2d 351 (1992).  The Tribe cannot demonstrate a causal connection between the alleged

injury and Kozal’s conduct nor is it likely the Tribe’s alleged injury will be redressed by a

favorable decision and, therefore, it does not have standing to bring this lawsuit.

Regarding the causation element, “the plaintiff must demonstrate a causal connection

between the injury and the conduct complained of - the injury has to be fairly traceable to the

challenged action of the defendant, and not the result of the independent action of some third

party not before the court.” Salmon Spawning & Recovery Alliance v. Gutierrez, 545 F.3de

1220, 1227 (9th Cir.2008).  Although the “traceability” of a plaintiff’s harm to the defendant’s

actions need not rise to the level of proximate causation, it does require proof of a substantial

likelihood that the defendant’s conduct caused plaintiff’s injury in fact. Habecker v. Town of

Estes Park, Colo., 518 F.3d 1217, 1225 (10th Cir.2008).

The Tribe’s increased rate of alcoholism and other alcohol-related problems on Pine

Ridge are not fairly traceable to Kozal’s sale of alcohol in Whiteclay.  Kozal simply does what

he is legally entitled to do, sell alcohol in the State of Nebraska.  The Complaint contains no

allegations that he forced members of the Tribe to buy or consume beer which lead to alcoholism

or other problems on the reservation.  There are no allegations that he gave beer away which led

to the alleged harm on Pine Ridge.  The Tribe does not contend that Kozal or his employees

smuggled any beer onto Pine Ridge or otherwise was involved in the illegal re-sale of beer to

Tribe members on Pine Ridge.
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Moreover, the Complaint alleges no specific dates or instances in which Kozal sold beer

which actually led to any of the complained of harm.  There are no allegations of the amount or

quantity of beer that was sold specifically by Kozal to members of the Tribe.  There are no

allegations that a certain percentage of the beer consumed on Pine Ridge was purchased from

Kozal.  Instead, the Tribe references the geographic proximity of Kozal’s store, the Jumping

Eagle Inn, to Pine Ridge and assumes that it must be the cause of the alcohol problems on Pine

Ridge.  Such conclusory allegations are based on nothing but speculation and conjecture.

In truth, the specific injuries alleged can only be the result of personal conduct.  It is

axiomatic that for the alcohol issues to develop, individuals must buy and consume alcohol.

Such consumption is an entirely personal act.  The alleged harm cannot occur without several

intervening acts of independent individuals: leaving the reservation; purchasing beer; illegally

smuggling beer onto the reservation; illegally consuming the beer on the reservation or illegally

re-selling the beer to others on the reservation for consumption; and continuing this illegal beer

purchasing and consumption scheme to the point of alcoholism such that the health and safety of

not only themselves, but also other residents of the reservation, are negatively affected.  Such

entirely personal acts of certain individuals was and is the cause of the alcoholism and other

alcohol-related issues on Pine Ridge and these alleged injuries are not fairly traceable to the

conduct of Kozal such that the causation requirement for standing is fulfilled.

In addition to the lack of a fairly traceable connection, the Tribe cannot show that it is

likely, as opposed to merely speculative, that its alcohol issues will be redressed by a favorable

decision.  In its Complaint, the Tribe seeks an injunction limiting the amount of beer sold in

Whiteclay, as well as an award of damages for the past and future cost of alleviating such harm.

However, even if such a decision could be or actually is granted by the Court, the alcohol issues
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on Pine Ridge will not be remedied.  Alcohol on Indian reservations has long been a matter of

legislative concern such that Congress made the sale, consumption and possession of alcohol

illegal in Indian country in 1949.  18 U.S.C. §1154 et seq.  Despite its illegality, the Tribe alleges

that 85% of Lakota families are affected by alcoholism.  (Plaintiff’s Second Amended

Complaint, ¶34).  It is extremely speculative, and unlikely, that shutting down or limiting the

four retailers in Whiteclay will remedy such a long-standing and widespread concern.

Even if the requested injunction is granted, Tribe members will still be able to purchase

alcohol, they will just have to travel further to do so.  Such a result will put more intoxicated

drivers on the roads of Nebraska and South Dakota, thus putting other travelers in danger.

Individuals also may begin producing greater quantities of homemade alcohol.  In short, it cannot

be said that that limiting the beer sales in Whiteclay is likely to fix the problems on Pine Ridge.

Other options exist for individuals who are intent on drinking alcohol.

Because Kozal’s lawful sale of beer in Whiteclay is not fairly traceable to the alleged

harm and because the requested relief would not properly redress such harm, the Tribe lacks

standing to bring the instant lawsuit and, therefore, it should be dismissed as a matter of law.

B. The Tribe also does not have third-party standing under the doctrine

of parens patriae.

As stated above, the general rule is that a plaintiff may only assert his own injury in fact

and cannot rest his claim to relief on the legal rights or interests of third parties.  But there are

certain situations where a party may assert a claim for another’s injury, oftentimes called third-

party standing.  The Tribe contends it has third-party standing to bring the instant claims

pursuant to a type of third-party standing called parens patriae.  (Plaintiff’s Second Amended

4:12-cv-03027-WKU-CRZ   Doc # 119   Filed: 04/27/12   Page 7 of 30 - Page ID # 364



8

Complaint, ¶60).  However, even if third-party standing does exist under this doctrine, the

causation and redressability issues discussed above still apply to render the Tribe without

standing.

The doctrine of parens patriae allows a sovereign to bring an action on behalf of the

interest of its citizens. Louisiana v. Texas, 176 U.S. 1, 19, 20 S.Ct. 251 (1900).  In other words,

this doctrine allows the sovereign to assert claims its citizens or members would otherwise be

legally entitled to assert in their individual capacities against the defendants.  However, this

doctrine is reserved for actions which are asserted on behalf of all of the sovereign’s citizens.

U.S. v. Santee Sioux Tribe of Nebraska, 254 F.3d 728, 734 (8th Cir.2001) (emphasis in original).

In Kickapoo Tribe of Oklahoma v. Lujan, 728 F. Supp. 791, 795 (D.D.C. 1990), the

Kickapoo Tribe of Oklahoma sought to enjoin the U.S. government’s recognition of the newly-

created independent Texas Band of Kickapoo Indians.  The plaintiff tribe alleged it had standing

to bring this claim pursuant to the doctrine of parens patriae.  When discussing standing, the

court stated “while all members of the Tribe may be in some way affected by the [Texas] Band's

reorganization, the Tribe would not be representing the interests of all members as the doctrine

of parens patriae requires.” Id. at 795.  Accordingly, the court found the plaintiff lacked standing

to sue.

Here, the Tribe is not asserting claims on behalf of all members of the Tribe, it only

asserts claims on behalf of Tribe members who live on the Pine Ridge reservation and are

affected by Kozal’s sale of alcohol in Whiteclay.  Although the Tribe alleges the alcohol

problems on the reservation are widespread, it is likely that its members living elsewhere on the

large reservation are completely unaffected by Kozal’s lawful sale of alcohol in Whiteclay.

4:12-cv-03027-WKU-CRZ   Doc # 119   Filed: 04/27/12   Page 8 of 30 - Page ID # 365



9

Further, the Complaint contains no allegations that every member of the Tribe resides on

Pine Ridge.  Presumably there are members of the Tribe who do not live on the Pine Ridge

reservation at all, but instead reside in other areas of the United States.  For example, there may

be a Tribe member living in Rhode Island who is not having his or her interest represented in this

suit.  It is also possible members of the tribe live on a different Indian reservation.  Such

members are neither affected by nor have a cognizable claim against Kozal.  In fact, the Tribe

actually admits in the Complaint that not all of its members have been affected by Kozal’s beer

sales in Whiteclay.  The Complaint contends the actions of the Defendants have injured “the

property, health, safety, and comfort of a considerable number of individual members of the

Oglala Sioux Tribe.”  (Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint, ¶62) (emphasis added).  As noted

above, the 8th Circuit requires a sovereign state asserting parens patriae standing to assert claims

on behalf of “all” of its members, not simply a “considerable number” of its members and,

therefore, such standing does not exist in this situation.

Even if it could establish third party standing under this doctrine, the alleged harm is not

proximately caused by Kozal’s sale of beer in Whiteclay and this harm will not be redressed by

the requested relief such that the Tribe has standing to assert these claims.

C. Plaintiff does not have prudential standing to assert the instant claims.

By imposing prudential limits on standing, “the judiciary seeks to avoid deciding

questions of broad social import where no individual rights would be vindicated and to limit

access to the federal courts to litigants best suited to assert a particular claim.” Gladstone,

Realtors v. Village of Bellwood, 441 U.S. 91, 99–100, 99 S.Ct. 1601, 60 L.Ed.2d 66 (1979).

Without such limitations the courts would be called upon to decide abstract questions of wide

public significance even though other governmental institutions may be more competent to
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address the questions and even though judicial intervention may be unnecessary to protect

individual rights. Warth, 422 U.S. at 500, 95 S.Ct. 2197.

Although courts have not exhaustively defined the prudential dimensions of the standing

doctrine, the United States Supreme Court has explained that prudential standing encompasses

“(1) the general prohibition on a litigant’s raising another person’s legal rights, (2) the rule

barring adjudication of generalized grievances more appropriately addressed in the representative

branches, and (3) the requirement that a plaintiff’s complaint fall within the zone of interests

protected by the law invoked.” Allen, 468 U.S., at 751, 104 S.Ct. 3315.  See also Secretary of

State of Md. v. Joseph H. Munson Co., 467 U.S. 947, 955-956, 104 S.Ct. 2839, 81 L.Ed.2d 786

(1984).  The Tribe’s claims against Kozal run afoul of all three of these prudential limitations.

The prudential prohibition on a litigant’s raising another’s legal rights, in other words,

third-party standing, was discussed above in terms of parens patriae.  Another prudential

requirement is the doctrine “that a plaintiff’s grievance must arguably fall within the zone of

interests protected or regulated by the statutory provision . . . invoked in the suit.” Bennett v.

Spear, 520 U.S. 154, 162, 117 S.Ct. 1154 (1997).  Case law indicates the zone of interests rule is

generally applied to litigants who claim injury by the operation of an administrative rule or

decision of federal officials, neither of which is at issue in the instant matter.  To the extent it

does apply, it would not appear the federal statute allegedly violated by Kozal, 18 U.S.C. §1161,

falls within the zone of interests implicated in this case.  That statute criminalizes the sale of

alcohol in Indian Country.  “Indian Country” is defined as “all land within the limits of any

Indian reservation under the jurisdiction of the United States Government.”  18 U.S.C. §1151.

Kozal does not sell alcohol on Pine Ridge or any other Indian reservation.  Accordingly, the

grievance alleged by the Tribe is not within the zone of interests §1161 was designed to protect.
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The final prudential limitation discussed by federal courts is the rule barring adjudication

of generalized grievances more appropriately addressed in the representative branches.  This

limitation is also applicable in this case. The Complaint alleges a sweeping harm suffered by a

“considerable number” of Pine Ridge residents.  (Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint, ¶62).

There are no specific names of individuals who have suffered this harm.  Instead, the Complaint

alleges the Pine Ridge community in general is affected by the sale of beer in Whiteclay.  Such a

societal harm is best addressed by other branches of government.  Further, alcohol sales are

highly regulated and done so solely by the states.  Consequently, the proper channel for the

Tribe’s requested remedy is not through this suit, but rather through the legislative or executive

branches of Nebraska government.

In summary, the Tribe cannot establish standing through a direct injury-in-fact or third-

party standing under parens patriae.  Even if it somehow can demonstrate standing, it fails the

prudential limitations on standing adopted by the United States Supreme Court.  For this reason,

the Court should dismiss the claims against Kozal as a matter of law.

II. The Tribe’s Second Amended Complaint fails to state a claim upon which

relief can be granted.

In Ashcroft v. Iqbal and Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly the United States Supreme Court held

that in order to survive a motion to dismiss, a complaint must contain sufficient factual

allegations to “state a claim for relief that is plausible on its face.” Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 129 S. Ct.

1937, 1949-50 (2009); Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007).  The Nebraska

Supreme Court adopted this standard in Doe v. Bd. of Regents University of Nebraska, 280 Neb.

492, 788 N.W.2d 264 (2010).
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This “facial plausibility” standard is met only where “the plaintiff pleads factual content

that allows the court to draw the reasonable inference that the defendant is liable for the

misconduct alleged.” McCurry v. Swanson, 2009 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 82078, at *6 (D. Neb. Sept.

8, 2009) (quoting Iqbal, 129 S. Ct. at 1949).  The notice pleading standard set forth in Federal

Rule of Civil Procedure 8(a)(2) therefore demands “more than an unadorned, the-defendant-

unlawfully-harmed-me accusation.” Iqbal, 129 S. Ct. at 1949-50.  A complaint containing facts

showing only a “sheer possibility” that the defendant acted unlawfully is insufficient. Id.

(“Where a complaint pleads facts that are merely consistent with a defendant’s liability, it stops

short of the line between possibility and plausibility of entitlement to relief.”) (quoting Twombly,

550 U.S. at 557).

Under this standard, a “two-pronged approach” is applied to determine whether a

complaint satisfies Rule 8(a)(2). Id. at 1950.  First, the Court should identify allegations that

“are no more than conclusions, [and thus] are not entitled to the assumption of truth,” and

disregard them. Id. at 1950; see also Davila v. Delta Air Lines, Inc., 326 F.3d 1183, 1185 (11th

Cir. 2003) (“Conclusory allegations, unwarranted factual deductions or legal conclusions

masquerading as facts will not prevent dismissal.”).  Second, considering those factual

allegations that actually are well-pled, the Court should determine whether such allegations

“plausibly suggest an entitlement to relief.” Iqbal, 129 S. Ct. at 1951.

The Complaint contains the following “causes of action” against Kozal: (1) “persons

acting in concert”; (2) violation of 18 U.S.C. §1161; (3) injunctive relief; (4) public nuisance;

and (5) private nuisance.  None of these “causes of action” properly state a claim under the

Twombly standard set for above and all should be dismissed as a matter of law.
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A. The Tribe’s first “cause of action”, “acting in concert”, fails to state a

claim.

The Tribe fails to state a valid claim for “acting in concert.”  As a threshold matter, there

is no recognized claim in Nebraska titled “acting in concert.”  It appears the Tribe is attempting

to assert a claim for civil conspiracy.  In Nebraska, “a civil conspiracy is a combination of two or

more persons acting in concert to accomplish an unlawful or oppressive object, or a lawful object

by unlawful or oppressive means.” Ashby v. State, 279 Neb. 509, 526-27, 779 N.W.2d 343, 357

(2010).  However, “a civil conspiracy is only actionable if the alleged conspirators actually

committed some underlying misconduct.  And a conspiracy is not a separate and independent tort

in itself; rather, it depends upon the existence of an underlying tort.  So without such underlying

tort, there can be no cause of action for a conspiracy to commit the tort.” Id.

Kozal has committed no underlying misconduct or underlying tort which would give rise

to a claim against it for civil conspiracy.  Kozal lawfully sells alcohol in Whiteclay.  He is

licensed to do so by the Nebraska Liquor Control Commission.  He sells no alcohol on Pine

Ridge and is not in violation of any federal, state, or municipal law or regulation.  Further, no

dram shop liability exists in Nebraska that would impose a duty upon retailers to protect against

harm done to third persons resulting from acts of intoxicated persons. See Pelzek v. American

Legion, 236 Neb. 608, 463 N.W.2d 321 (1990).  There is also no other Nebraska law which

would impose a duty upon Kozal in this situation.  Because no underlying misconduct exists,

Nebraska law forbids a claim for civil conspiracy against Kozal under the instant facts.

Therefore, the Complaint does not plausibly suggest an entitlement to relief for “acting in

concert” and it should be dismissed as a matter of law.
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B. The Tribe fails to state a claim for violation of 18 U.S.C. §1161.

The Tribe cannot state a claim against Kozal for the unlawful sale of alcohol in Indian

Country under 18 U.S.C. §1161.  First and foremost, that statute only applies to “Indian

Country”, which is later defined as land within the limits of an Indian reservation, “dependent

Indian communities”, or “all Indian allotments.”  In fact, the express language of 18 U.S.C.

§1161 provides that it “shall not apply within any area that is not Indian Country.”

As the Tribe admits in the Complaint, neither Whiteclay or Kozal’s store, the Jumping

Eagle Inn, is located within Pine Ridge or any other Indian reservation.  (Plaintiff’s Second

Amended Complaint, ¶5, 20).  Whiteclay is also not a “dependent Indian community”, which is a

small category of land for federal superintendence, nor is Whiteclay an “Indian allotment”,

which is land held by the federal government in trust for individual Indians. Alaska v. Native

Vill. Of Venetie Tribal Gov’t, 522 U.S. 520, 527, 118 S.Ct. 948 (1998).  In short, neither

Whiteclay or Kozal’s store, the Jumping Eagle Inn, is located in “Indian Country” as it is defined

in the statute.

Additionally, 18 U.S.C. §1161 does not create a corresponding private civil cause of

action.  This statute is found in the section of the United States Code describing offenses which

constitute federal crimes.  Enforcement of this statute rests with the Attorney General and the

Justice Department.  No private right of action is provided by this statute.  Therefore, the Tribe

cannot assert a civil claim against Kozal for its alleged violation. See Mousseaux v. U.S. Com’r

of Indian Affairs, 806 F.Supp 1433 (W.D.S.Dakota.1992); Kunzer v. Magill, 667 F.Supp.2d 1058

(D.Minn.2009).  The Nebraska Liquor Control Act also does not confer a private cause of action,
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so the Tribe has no right to assert a claim for any similar alleged violation of those laws. Neb.

Rev. Stat. §53-101 et seq.

Finally, the allegations pertaining to this “cause of action” are conclusory and should be

disregarded by the Court.  The Tribe alleges “the sales of alcohol as previously alleged violated

both the laws of Nebraska and of the OST.”  (Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint, ¶51).  But

as discussed, Kozal’s sales of beer in Whiteclay do not violate any laws of Nebraska and the

Tribe fails to state which specific laws are allegedly being violated by such sales.  Under

Twombly, such conclusory allegations should be afforded no assumptions of truth.

For these reasons, the Tribe’s claim against Kozal for violation of 18 U.S.C. §1161

should be dismissed as a matter of law because it contains conclusory allegations and does not

plausibly suggest an entitlement to relief.

C. The Tribe’s claim for injunctive relief fails to state a claim.

The Tribe’s third “cause of action” alleges a claim for injunctive relief.  Specifically, it

seeks an order limiting the total volume of beer sold by the Defendants out of Whiteclay stores.

(Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint, ¶58).  However, in United Transp. Union v. State Bar

of Mich., 401 U.S. 576, 584, 91 S.Ct. 1076, 1081 (1971), the United States Supreme Court stated

“an injunction can issue only after the plaintiff has established that the conduct sought to be

enjoined is illegal and that the defendant, if not enjoined, will engage in such conduct.”

In other words, there must be some type of wrongful or illegal conduct before a party can

be awarded an injunction.  But Kozal has done nothing wrong or illegal such that an injunction is

proper.  As stated, Kozal’s conduct in selling alcohol from its store in Whiteclay is completely

lawful.  His sales are not in violation of the Nebraska Liquor Control Act, Neb. Rev. Stat. §53-
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101 et seq., which provides the framework to regulate the sale of liquor in the State of Nebraska.

Kozal’s conduct of selling alcohol in Whiteclay also does not violate any federal or municipal

law or regulation. Also as previously discussed, Nebraska courts and legislature have repeatedly

rejected adopting dram shop laws which would impart a duty upon retailer sellers of alcohol in

this situation.  And Kozal owes the Tribe no other duty imposed by Nebraska law.  Because there

is no wrongful or illegal conduct, the Tribe’s “cause of action” seeking injunctive relief fails to

state a claim upon which relief can be granted and should be dismissed as a matter of law.

D. The Tribe fails to state a claim for public nuisance.

The Tribe’s fourth “cause of action” alleges that Kozal and the rest of the Defendants

have created a public nuisance in Pine Ridge by interfering with the safe and unimpeded use of

the streets, sidewalk, and other public spaces.  (Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint, ¶61).

“There is perhaps no more impenetrable jungle in the entire law than that which surrounds the

word ‘nuisance.’  It has meant all things to all people, and has been applied indiscriminately to

everything from an alarming advertisement to a cockroach baked in a pie.  There is general

agreement that it is incapable of any exact or comprehensive definition.” City of Chicago v.

Beretta U.S.A. Corp., 213 Ill. 2d 351, 364-65, 821 N.E.2d 1099, 1110 (2004) quoting W. Keeton,

Prosser & Keeton on Torts § 86, at 616 (5th ed. 1984).

Although many courts have struggled with an exact definition of public nuisance, many

courts, including Nebraska, have adopted the Restatement (Second) of Torts §821B (1979)

definition that a public nuisance is “an unreasonable interference with a right common to the

general public.” State ex rel. Spire v. Strawberries, Inc., 239 Neb. 1, 9, 473 N.W.2d 428, 435

(1991); County of York v. Tracy, 5 Neb.App. 240, 558 N.W.2d 815 (1996).  This definition can
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be broken down into four separate elements: (1) the existence of a public right; (2) a substantial

and unreasonable interference with that right by the defendant; (3) proximate cause; and (4)

injury. City of Chicago v. Beretta U.S.A. Corp., 213 Ill.2d 351, 290 Ill.Dec. 525 (2004).  All four

of these elements must be alleged to state a claim for public nuisance.

The first element that must be alleged is the existence of a public right.  Such rights

generally include the rights of public health, public safety, public peace, public comfort, and

public convenience.  Restatement (Second) of Torts §821B(2)(a).  “A public right is not like the

individual right that everyone has not to be assaulted.”  Restatement (Second) of Torts §821B,

Comment g, at 92.  In order to be “public”, the nuisance must produce a common injury. Ganim

v. Smith & Wesson Corp., 258 Conn. 313, 369, 780 A.2d 92, 131-32 (2001).

The Beretta court discussed the issue of public right in a similar context.  In that case, the

City of Chicago brought a public nuisance action against handgun manufacturers, sellers, and

dealers, seeking to recover compensation for law enforcement and medical services expenditures

allegedly incurred as a result of gun violence.  The court stated “we are reluctant to state that

there is a public right to be free from the threat that some individuals may use an otherwise legal

product (be it a gun, liquor, a car, a cell phone, or some other instrumentality) in a manner that

may create a risk of harm to another.” Beretta, 213 Ill.2d at 374-75, 290 Ill.Dec. at 542.

The Tribe’s Complaint alleges the actions of Kozal interfere with the safe and unimpeded

use of the streets, sidewalk and other public spaces by the Tribe on Pine Ridge.  The Complaint

then goes on to specifically describe such interference as “public intoxication, driving of motor

vehicles while under the influence of alcohol and a wide variety of crimes committed by

intoxicated persons in public spaces on the reservation.”  (Plaintiff’s Second Amended

Complaint, ¶61).
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Like Beretta, the instant matter involves the alleged threat that some residents of Pine

Ridge will use an instrumentality to create a risk of harm to another.  This is not the type of

public right for which public nuisance law was developed to protect.

Additionally, while the Tribe attempts to couch these supposed interferences in terms of

rights to the public in general, these alleged interferences are actually not public rights at all, but

rather different ways of describing the distinctly private right to be free from assault.  The right

to be free of abuse from people intoxicated in public is completely personal, as is the right to not

be injured by a person driving a motor vehicle while intoxicated.

 As stated above, Comment g of the Restatement (Second) of Torts §821B makes clear

that the right to be free from assault is private, not public.  Simply because the harm occurs in a

public space does not mean it is a “public harm” for purposes of a public nuisance cause of

action.  The harm itself must produce a common injury.  Here, there is no public right to be free

from individual assault in Nebraska and the Tribe fails to allege any type of common injury.  The

Complaint fails to allege the first element of a public nuisance claim.

The Complaint also does not properly allege the second element of a public nuisance

claim, a substantial and unreasonable interference.  “The defendant is held liable for a public

nuisance if the interference with the public right was intentional or was unintentional and

otherwise actionable under the principles controlling liability for negligent or reckless conduct.”

Restatement (Second) of Torts §821B(2)(a), comment e.  In other words, a defendant must be

engaged in some kind of underlying wrongful or negligent act for the interference to be

considered “substantial and unreasonable.”

But as discussed above, Kozal is engaged in no wrongful or negligent conduct in this

situation.  His conduct takes place in the midst of the highly regulated field of alcohol sales.

4:12-cv-03027-WKU-CRZ   Doc # 119   Filed: 04/27/12   Page 18 of 30 - Page ID # 375



19

“For good reason, courts are loath to declare as a public nuisance legal commercial conduct

which complies with a comprehensive set of legislative acts or administrative regulations

governing the details of that kind of conduct.” James v. Arms Technology, Inc., 359 N.J.Super.

291, 331, 820 A.2d 27, 51 (2003).  Kozal’s sale of alcohol in Whiteclay is not in violation of any

federal or state regulation or other state or federal law.  Its actions fall within the framework and

regulations of the Nebraska Liquor Control Act, which explicitly exists to govern such sales.

Neb. Rev. Stat. §53-101.01.  Such laws provide a structure by which negligent conduct can be

measured in this area.  The lawful sale of a nondefective product in a highly regulated field

should not be considered a substantial and unreasonable interference by this Court.

Further, as stated above, there is no dram shop liability for retailers of alcohol in

Nebraska, so it cannot be said that Kozal breached a duty owed to the Tribe in this instance.

Nebraska has defined no such other duty which would apply to retailer sellers of alcohol in this

context.  Simply put, Kozal at no time engaged in any intentional, wrongful, or negligent conduct

that would fulfill this element of a public nuisance claim.

The Tribe’s public nuisance claim also fails because Kozal’s conduct was not the

proximate cause of the alleged harm.  First, the harm alleged in the Complaint is not caused or

created by Kozal.  The only way the alleged harm can result is from the independent conduct of

certain individuals.  Such intervening acts by individuals not under the control of the Kozal

breaks the causal chain.  In Beretta, the court stated

[l]egal cause will be found if reasonable persons in the retail business of selling firearms
would have seen the creation of the nuisance in the city of Chicago as a likely result of
their conduct.  However, legal cause will not be found where the criminal acts of third
parties have broken the causal connection and the resulting nuisance “is such as in the
exercise of reasonable diligence would not be anticipated and the third person is not
under the control of the one guilty of the original wrong.”  Clearly, the individuals who
illegally possess and use firearms in the city of Chicago are not under the control of the
dealer defendants.
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Beretta, at 407-08, 290 Ill.Dec. at 525.  The appellate division of the Supreme Court of New

York has similarly ruled “defendants' lawful commercial activity, having been followed by harm

to person and property caused directly and principally by the criminal activity of intervening

third parties, may not be considered a proximate cause of such harm.” People ex rel. Spitzer v.

Sturm, Ruger & Co., Inc., 309 A.D.2d 91, 103, 761 N.Y.S.2d 192, 201 (N.Y. App. Div. 1st Dept.

2003).

As in Beretta and Sturm, Ruger & Co., Inc, the harm alleged would not arise without

independent criminal acts of third parties.  It is not alleged that Kozal or his employees were

present when any beer he sold was re-sold on Pine Ridge or smuggled onto the reservation.  It is

also not alleged that he in any way had control over the entirely personal act of consuming beer

or an individual’s decision to drive while intoxicated.  Such illegal, remote, and entirely personal

acts of individuals sever any connection existing between Kozal’s lawful conduct and the alleged

harm.

There are other issues with respect to causation in this context.  The general rule is that a

plaintiff must show that the defendant proximately caused the plaintiff’s injury.  But the Tribe

seeks to hold the Defendants generally liable for all of the harm on Pine Ridge under a collective

liability theory or market share theory of liability.  Generally, such theories provide an exception

to the general rule that a plaintiff must show that the defendant proximately caused the plaintiff’s

injury.  First and foremost, neither market share liability, nor any other similar theory, has been

adopted in Nebraska.  In fact, market share has only been adopted by a handful of states. See

Smith v. Eli Lilly & Co., 137 Ill.2d 222, 560 N.E.2d 324 (1990).  Further, such a theory is simply

inequitable in this context and should not be adopted by this Court in this situation.
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The disadvantages of market share liability are substantial.  For one, it turns

manufacturers into insurers of their own products and products made by others in the industry.

Additionally, such a theory is patently unfair because there is oftentimes inadequate information

to establish various defendants’ percentages of the market.  This difficulty is further enhanced

where, as is alleged in this case, products are being re-sold to third-parties.  The companies

which cannot prove their share will be made to pay the unattributed portion of the damages, thus

paying the damages which rightfully belong to companies which are insolvent, not amenable to

suit in the jurisdiction or for some other reason are not before the court.  Here, the Tribe is

attempting to make all of the Defendants insurers for all harm attributable to alcohol on Pine

Ridge, both in the past and future.  Market share liability should not be adopted in the instant

situation as an exception to the Tribe’s requirement to allege the manner in which each specific

Defendant caused the alleged harm on Pine Ridge.

Finally, the Complaint’s public nuisance allegations are implausible and fail as a matter

of law because they do not show that the Tribe suffered a special injury that is distinct and

different in kind from that suffered by the general public. Hartford v. Womens Services, P.C.,

239 Neb. 540, 544, 477 N.W.2d 161, 165 (1991).  The harm alleged by the plaintiff in such a

case cannot simply be of a greater degree to the harm alleged by the rest of the public. Karpisek

v. Cather & Sons Const., Inc., 174 Neb. 234, 117 N.W.2d 322 (1962).  The Tribe alleges injury

in the form of the cost for alcohol-related health services and increased police costs.  (Plaintiff’s

Second Amended Complaint, ¶38-41).  But all communities dealing with alcohol issues are

forced to pay these increased costs for these services.  The Tribe seems to argue that because it

has a larger amount of alcohol problems, that it is sufficiently “injured” for purposes of public

nuisance.  But, as stated above, simply alleging a greater degree of the same harm felt by the
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public at large is insufficient.  Because the Tribe does not contend its injuries are different in

kind from those suffered by the general public, it fails to fulfill the fourth element to properly

state a claim for public nuisance.

In summary, the Complaint fails to allege each of the four elements of a public nuisance

claim and, therefore, this claim does not plausibly suggest an entitlement to relief under Twombly

and should be dismissed as a matter of law.

E. The Tribe fails to state a claim for private nuisance.

The Complaint alleges a private nuisance in that the Defendants’ sale of beer in

Whiteclay interferes with the Tribe’s ability to develop and enhance the value of land located in

Pine Ridge.  (Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint, ¶63-65).  “The Nebraska Supreme Court

has expressly adopted the Restatement (Second) of Torts (1979) as the law of private nuisance

actions in Nebraska.” Thomsen v. Greve, 4 Neb.App. 742, 550 N.W.2d 49 (1996); Kopecky v.

National Farms, Inc., 244 Neb. 846, 851, 510 N.W.2d 41, 47 (1994).  “A private nuisance is a

nontrespassory invasion of another’s interest in the private use and enjoyment of land.” Hall v.

Phillips, 321 Neb. 269, 272, 436 N.W.2d 139, 142 (1989), quoting Restatement (Second) of

Torts §821D (1979).  A party may be subject to liability for private nuisance (1) if the

defendant’s conduct is a proximate cause of an invasion of another’s interest in the private use

and enjoyment of land; and (2) if the invasion is intentional and unreasonable or otherwise

actionable under rules controlling liability for negligence.” Id. at 278, 436 N.W.2d at 145.

As discussed above, Kozal’s conduct is not the proximate cause of any harm on Pine

Ridge.  Kozal lawfully sells beer in Whiteclay.  He does not control the individuals who

purchase beer and illegally smuggle it onto the reservation for re-sale or consumption.
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Additionally, Kozal’s conduct is not intentional or negligent, as required to state a claim

for private nuisance in Nebraska.  As stated previously, he perfectly complies with the statutory

framework of the highly regulated field of alcohol sales.  He is not breaking any law or

regulation.  Further, Kozal owes no dram shop or other duty to the Plaintiff in this situation.

The Complaint contains no allegations for how Kozal’s actions have impeded the Tribe’s

right to develop land on Pine Ridge.  There are no contentions that specific development projects

have been stopped due to Kozal’s lawful sale of alcohol in Whiteclay.  There are no allegations

that investors have stopped putting money into the reservation.  There are no allegations that the

price of any land has decreased in the years Kozal has sold alcohol in Whiteclay.  This entire

claim is conclusory, not plausible, and should be dismissed as a matter of law.

Because the Complaint fails to state any plausible claim against Kozal under the

Twombly standard, it should be dismissed as a matter of law.

IV. Public policy counsels against extending liability to the Defendants in this

situation.

In considering a motion to dismiss, it is appropriate for the Court to take into account

public policy considerations in determining whether a complaint’s stated claims fulfill the

Twombly plausibility standard discussed above.

While no prior cases exist with these precise facts, numerous courts have dealt with the

similar situation of cities or other political subdivisions bringing lawsuits against manufacturers,

distributors, and retailers of a lawful product for harm allegedly done to a community by those

products.  Such cases discuss a myriad of public policy reasons why such claims should not

stand and such reasons are perfectly applicable to the instant situation.
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To begin, expanding the scope of actionable duty to the extent urged by the Tribe would

pose potentially limitless public nuisance lawsuits in this and similar situations.  In Sturm, Ruger

& Co., Inc., supra, the court discussed this concern in the handgun context at the motion to

dismiss stage of the proceeding:

[g]iving a green light to a common-law public nuisance cause of action today will, in our
judgment, likely open the courthouse doors to a flood of limitless, similar theories of
public nuisance, not only against these defendants, but also against a wide and varied
array of other commercial and manufacturing enterprises and activities.

All a creative mind would need to do is construct a scenario describing a known or
perceived harm of a sort that can somehow be said to relate back to the way a company or
an industry makes, markets and/or sells its nondefective, lawful product or service, and a
public nuisance claim would be conceived and a lawsuit born.  A variety of such lawsuits
would leave the starting gate to be welcomed into the legal arena to run their
cumbersome course, their vast cost and tenuous reasoning notwithstanding.  Indeed, such
lawsuits employed to address a host of societal problems would be invited into the
courthouse whether the problems they target are real or perceived; whether the problems
are in some way caused by, or perhaps merely preceded by, the defendants' completely
lawful business practices; regardless of the remoteness of their actual cause or of their
foreseeability; and regardless of the existence, remoteness, nature and extent of any
intervening causes between defendants' lawful commercial conduct and the alleged harm.

Sturm, Ruger & Co., Inc., 309 A.D.2d at 96.  Also at the motion to dismiss level, one court stated

in a case involving similar issues under New Jersey law:

[w]hatever the precise scope of public nuisance law in New Jersey may be, no New
Jersey court has ever allowed a public nuisance claim to proceed against manufacturers
for lawful products that are lawfully placed in the stream of commerce.  On the contrary,
the courts have enforced the boundary between the well-developed body of product
liability law and public nuisance law.  Otherwise, if public nuisance law were permitted
to encompass product liability, nuisance law 'would become a monster that would devour
in one gulp the entire law of tort.' Tioga Public Sch. Dist. v. U.S. Gypsum Co., 984 F.2d
915, 921 (8th Cir. 1993).  If defective products are not a public nuisance as a matter of
law, then the non-defective, lawful products at issue in this case [handguns] cannot be a
nuisance without straining the law to absurdity.”

Camden County Bd. of Chosen Freeholders v Beretta, U.S.A. Corp., 273 F3d 536, 540 (2001).

The requested ruling would expose manufacturers, distributors, and retailers of

completely lawful and already regulated products such as violent video games, SUVs, and food
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containing trans fats to potential lawsuits under a public nuisance cause of action.  Literally any

party in the chain of commerce that has any sort of connection to an alleged societal problem or

product that is capable of causing harm, even if only when used incorrectly, and regardless of the

distance between ‘causes’ of the ‘problems’ and the alleged consequences, could be sued under

this theory.

Additionally, the legislative and executive branches of government are best positioned to

handle this issue, not the judicial branch.  The Sturm, Ruger & Co., Inc. opinion touched on this

policy consideration as well:

[C]ourts are not always the best forum to resolve problems associated with, or which
follow, every form of commercial activity.  As for those societal problems associated
with, or following, legal handgun manufacturing and marketing, their resolution is best
left to the legislative and executive branches.  (see discussion Bryce A. Jensen, Note,
From Tobacco to Health Care and Beyond--A Critique of Lawsuits Targeting Unpopular
Industries, 86 Cornell L Rev 1334, 1371-1385 [2001]).  Their significantly greater
resources render those two branches appropriately empowered and, virtually always,
vastly better suited to address, investigate, evaluate, and resolve perceived societal
problems--problems which may be as remote from a defendant's conduct and control as
these.  As a practical matter, because of the ethical and legal limits on its ability to
investigate, gather information, and act, and, further, in light of its often scant or even
nonexistent resources, a court is uniquely ill-equipped to do so.  Moreover, courts have
not, by virtue of statute or case law, been given authority to act effectively in this specific
setting.

The prospect of judges becoming embroiled in a “hands-on” fashion in the minutiae of
disputes over how numerous companies manufacture and market their products poses
insurmountable obstacles as we foresee courts attempting to carefully monitor which
models of guns should or should not be designed, which ones may be sold in exactly
what quantities, to and by which wholesalers, in which states, and to which individual
retailers in which communities.  Beyond that, courts could be asked to carve out
geographic criteria for marketing certain types of handguns and prohibiting, counting,
and limiting others, and then being asked to implement, monitor and enforce such criteria
for every manufacturer, wholesaler, distributor and retailer summoned to court by the
State.  Whatever intentions or beliefs underlie this lawsuit's protective goals, the courts
are not designed or equipped for such all-embracing new undertakings.

Sturm, Ruger & Co., Inc., 309 A.D.2d at 105-06.
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Not only are the executive and legislative branches best positioned to deal with these issues, but

there has been no indication that either of these branches would be inclined to impose public

nuisance or other liability for the sale of beer in Whiteclay.  In fact, Neb. Rev. Stat. §53-198

declares any and all businesses operating in violation of the Nebraska Liquor Control Act

nuisances.  Although it concerned this very issue, the Nebraska Legislature did not address the

sale of alcohol in Whiteclay in that statute.

In Young v. Bryco Arms, 213 Ill.2d 433, 290 Ill.Dec. 504 (2004), a case involving the

manufacturers, dealers, and retailers of handguns, the court, in deciding whether to grant a

defendants’ motion to dismiss, stated “[w]e are reluctant to interfere in the lawmaking process in

the manner suggested by plaintiffs, especially when the product at issue is already so heavily

regulated by both the state and federal governments.  We, therefore, conclude that there are

strong public policy reasons to defer to the legislature in the matter of regulating the

manufacture, distribution, and sale of firearms.” Young, 213 Ill.2d at 455–56, 290 Ill.Dec. at 517.

Similarly, this Court should refrain from interfering in the regulation of alcohol in Whiteclay,

which is clearly a matter for the executive and legislative branches of government.

Finally, the ruling requested by the Tribe would lead to a paradigm shift in the way

alcohol and other potentially harmful products are manufactured and sold across the nation.

Manufacturers would be forced to analyze the sales data of each and every one of its distributors

and retailers to ensure that it was not selling too much of a product such that it was exposing

itself to possible liability for public nuisance.  Manufacturers would be required to similarly

analyze the area surrounding each of its retailers to determine whether a high concentration of

harm that could potentially be linked to the product was present in such an area.  If it was, then

the manufacturer would have to limit the amount of the product it provides to distributors and
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retailers in that area in the hopes of curbing the harm in order to limit tort exposure.  Such a

result is simply untenable.

In light of the foregoing public policy considerations, which the Court can appropriately

consider with respect to a motion to dismiss in this context, it is legally inappropriate,

impractical and unrealistic to mandate that the instant Defendants undertake, and the courts

enforce, the measures urged by the Tribe in order to abate the sales of beer in Whiteclay.

V. The Tribe’s claims against Stuart J. Kozal in his capacity as licensee of

Jumping Eagle Inn should be dismissed as a matter of law.

The Complaint separately names Stuart J. Kozal, licensee of Jumping Eagle Inn as one

defendant and Stuart J. Kozal D/B/A Jumping Eagle Inn as another defendant.  (Plaintiff’s

Second Amended Complaint, ¶5).  However, a licensee is not a separate entity capable of being

sued or obtaining a judgment against.  The Complaint makes no specific allegations as to Kozal

in his capacity as a licensee.  It also does not assert different claims against Kozal in his capacity

as a licensee.  Kozal is already being sued in his individual capacity and, therefore, listing him

again as a separate defendant in his capacity as a licensee is repetitive and has no legal effect or

basis in the law.  Accordingly, the Tribe’s claims against Stuart J. Kozal, licensee of Jumping

Eagle Inn should be dismissed as a matter of law.

CONCLUSION

Because the Tribe lacks standing and the Complaint fails to state a claim upon which

relief can be granted, all claims alleged against Kozal should be dismissed with prejudice as a

matter of law.
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